NO. 45075-5-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

MIGUEL GARCIA,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR LEWIS COUNTY

The Honorable Michael H. Evans, Judge

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

CATHERINE E. GLINSKI Attorney for Appellant

CATHERINE E. GLINSKI Attorney at Law P.O. Box 761 Manchester, WA 98353 (360) 876-2736

Issue pertaining to assignments of error

The jury was instructed that to convict appellant of possession of methamphetamine with intent to deliver, it had to find he knowingly possessed methamphetamine. Where the evidence was insufficient to establish this knowledge, must appellant's conviction be reversed and the charge dismissed?

B. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

1. <u>Procedural History</u>

On March 4, 2013, the Cowlitz County Prosecuting Attorney charged appellant Miguel Garcia with one count of possession with intent to deliver methamphetamine. CP 1-2; RCW 69.50.401(1). The information alleged that the offense occurred within 1000 feet of a school bus route stop and also sought an exceptional sentence, alleging that the offense was a major violation of the Uniform Controlled Substances Act. RCW 69.50.435(1)(c); RCW 9.94A.535(3)(e).

The case proceeded to jury trial before the honorable Michael Evans, and the jury returned a guilty verdict. CP 50. The jury answered

the special verdicts in the affirmative. CP 51-53. The court imposed an exceptional sentence of 70 months, including a 24-month school zone enhancement. CP 60, 67. Garcia filed this timely appeal. CP 71-72.

2. <u>Substantive Facts</u>

On February 27, 2013, members of several law enforcement agencies were working on a fugitive apprehension team in Cowlitz County. RP 18. Acting on information that the suspect they were looking for was at house in Longview, the team set up surveillance around the house. RP 21. Members of the team knocked on the front door, explained why they were there, and received permission to search the house. RP 23. They did not locate the suspect. RP 24.

While inside, Officer Fila Matua kept his eye on a shed in the backyard. He had seen people walking in and out of the shed earlier, and when he saw a woman exit the shed, he stepped outside to talk to her. RP 22, 24-25. Daphne Kraabell told Matua that there was one more man inside the shed, so Matua and Detective Kevin Sawyer approached the shed and asked him to come out. RP 25-26, 92.

Miguel Garcia exited the shed in a matter of seconds. RP 92, 183. He appeared calm, and he stopped for Matua to conduct a pat down search. RP 93, 186. Garcia was unarmed, and he was not the suspect the team was searching for. RP 93. He did not appear nervous, and he made no effort to run away. RP 138.

Matua and Sawyer went into the shed to search for the suspect. RP 27. They did not find him, but they saw, on a shelf along the side of the shed, a one-pound package of methamphetamine. RP 27-28, 95. They also noticed a large amount of cash, some digital scales, packaging, and plastic bags. RP 28, 94. The officers left the shed immediately and placed Garcia and Kraabell under arrest. RP 28, 133.

Officer Raymond Hartley obtained a warrant to search the shed. RP 55. The search team located the methamphetamine, scales, currency, some baggies, bags of needles, containers with residue, and a small video monitor. RP 59, 79-80. The shed also contained numerous other items, such as a work bench, yard tools, duct tape, an air compressor, a hand-held camcorder, and a socket set. RP 75, 77-78, 80, 101.

Garcia was charged with possession of methamphetamine with intent to deliver, based on the evidence found in the shed. At trial, Matua testified that he found a large amount of a crystal substance wrapped in Saran Wrap in the shed, which looked like an eight-inch tube of something white. RP 39-40. It was not labeled, but he recognized it as methamphetamine, because he is trained in recognizing narcotics paraphernalia. RP 40-41. Someone without his training might not recognize the same things as being narcotics related. RP 38.

Hartley is a detective with the Longview Police street crimes unit, whose primary focus is on drug enforcement. RP 53. He testified that he saw a large package wrapped in cellophane, as well as some measuring equipment, baggies, and needles. RP 59. Hartley is specifically trained to notice and identify narcotics, and to him the package looked like a pound of methamphetamine. RP 59, 66, 68. To the untrained eye, however, it simply looked like a tube of salami or something wrapped in cellophane. RP 60, 68.

Sawyer also testified that when he saw the cellophane package, he could tell it was methamphetamine. RP 95. He, too, is specifically trained to recognize drugs and has made arrests in over 300 drug cases. RP 135-36.

Detective Seth Libbey of the Longview Police street crimes unit also described his narcotics training. RP 189-90. He testified that he has been involved in narcotics investigations, and he knows what methamphetamine looks like when packaged in large quantities. RP 192, 194. Libbey testified that he saw a summer sausage-sized package wrapped in cellophane, which he recognized as a pound of methamphetamine. RP 204.

4

C. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

THE EVIDENCE WAS INSUFFICIENT TO PROVE THAT GARCIA KNEW THERE WAS METHAMPHETAMINE IN THE SHED, AND HIS CONVICTION MUST BE REVERSED.

For a criminal conviction to be upheld, the State must prove every element of the charged crime beyond a reasonable doubt. U.S. Const. amend. 14; Const. art. 1, § 3; In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368, 90 S. Ct. 1068 (1970); State v. Crediford, 130 Wn.2d 747, 759, 927 P.2d 1129 (1996). "A claim of insufficiency admits the truth of the State's evidence and all inferences that reasonably can be drawn therefrom." State v. Walton, 64 Wn. App. 410, 415, 824 P.2d 533, review denied, 119 Wn.2d 1011 (1992). But, as a matter of state and federal constitutional law, a reviewing court must reverse a conviction and dismiss the prosecution for insufficient evidence where no rational trier of fact could find that all elements of the crime were proven beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Hickman, 135 Wn.2d 97, 103, 954 P.2d 900 (1998); State v. Hardesty, 129 Wn.2d 303, 309, 915 P.2d 1080 (1996); State v. Chapin, 118 Wn.2d 681, 826 P.2d 194 (1992); State v. Green, 94 Wn. 2d 216, 616 P.2d 628 (1980).

The State charged Garcia with possession with intent to deliver methamphetamine, alleging that he possessed methamphetamine, knowing it to be a controlled substance. CP 1-2. At trial the State acknowledged that, while the court is generally not required to instruct the jury on guilty knowledge as a separate element, it was an essential element in this case because of the charging language. RP 269; <u>see State v. Sims</u>, 119 Wn.2d 138, 142, 829 P.2d 1075 (1992). Thus, under the law of the case, to convict Garcia the jury had to find beyond a reasonable doubt that he (1) knowingly possessed methamphetamine (2) with intent to deliver methamphetamine (3) in the State of Washington. CP 44; RCW 69.50.401(1); <u>Hickman</u>, 135 Wn.2d at 102 (if unnecessary element is added to to-convict instruction, without objection, State assumes burden of proving added element).

Here, the State failed to prove that Garcia had knowledge that there was methamphetamine in the shed. The State presented evidence that the law enforcement officers who entered the shed found an unlabeled eightinch tube of a white substance tightly wrapped in cellophane. RP 39-40. Each of these officers had received specific training in recognizing narcotics and paraphernalia. RP 38, 66, 68, 135-36, 190. Each of these officers had significant experience in narcotics investigations and arrests. RP 41, 47, 68, 135-36, 192, 194. It was based on this training and experience that they were able to recognize the cellophane-wrapped tube as a pound of methamphetamine. RP 41, 47, 68, 135-36, 204. The officers testified, however, that to someone without their training and experience, the methamphetamine would just look like a tube of salami or something wrapped in cellophane. RP 60, 68, 204.

There was no evidence that Garcia had any training or experience with narcotics and no basis to conclude that he would recognize the cellophane-wrapped tube as methamphetamine. No one saw him enter the shed with the substance, and there was no evidence that he had touched or handled it. Moreover, Garcia did not panic or try to run when he saw the police but calmly left the shed and submitted to a pat down search when asked. Because the State did not produce sufficient evidence that Garcia was knowingly in possession of the methamphetamine discovered by trained law enforcement officers, his conviction must be reversed and the charge dismissed.

D. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

Garcia's conviction must be reversed and the charge dismissed for insufficient evidence.

DATED November 21, 2013.

Respectfully submitted,

Cora - E ili-

CATHERINE E. GLINSKI WSBA No. 20260 Attorney for Appellant