NO. 45075-5-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

MIGUEL GARCIA,

Appellant.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

SUSAN I. BAUR Prosecuting Attorney AARON BARTLETT/WSBA 39710 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Representing Respondent

HALL OF JUSTICE 312 SW FIRST KELSO, WA 98626 (360) 577-3080

1) Procedural History

On March 4, 2013 the Cowlitz County Prosecuting Attorney filed an information charging Miguel Tadeo Garcia¹ with Violation of the Uniform Controlled Substances Act - Possession with the Intent to Deliver methamphetamine. CP 1-2.² The information included the allegation that the offense took place within 1,000 feet of a school bus stop and provided notice that an exceptional sentence was sought because the alleged offense was a major violation of the Uniform Controlled Substances Act.³ The case proceeded to a jury trial before The Honorable Michael Evans, which commenced on June 18, 2013 and concluded on June 19, 2013. RP 1-356.

The jury found Mr. Garcia guilty as charged and answered the special verdict forms in the affirmative. RP 344-49; CP 50-53; CP 54.

¹ The appellant is also known as Gabriel Contrera-Patino. ² RCW 69.50.401(1).

³ RCW 69.50.435(1)(c); RCW 9.94A.535(3)(e).

The court imposed an exceptional sentence of 70 months, which included the school bus stop enhancement. RP 356-66; CP 54-70. Mr. Garcia filed a timely notice of appeal. CP 71-72.

2) Statement of Facts

On February 27, 2013 a fugitive apprehension team comprised of members from several local law enforcement agencies received information that a wanted person was located at the residence at 837 7th avenue in Longview, Washington. RP 18, 54, 89-90, 175, 196. Officers setup surveillance at the home and watched it for about five to ten minutes prior to performing a knock-and-talk. RP 21-23, 55, 196-98. The wanted person was not found within the home. RP 24, 91.

While the officers were surveilling the home and conducting the search for the wanted person within it they noticed activity outside by a shed. RP 22, 24-25, 33-35, 55, 198. Daphne Kraabell, a resident of the home, was observed exiting the shed. RP 24-25, 64, 142, 177, 181-82, 198. She was contacted and explained that one person remained in the shed. RP 25-26, 92, 116.

Because they were still looking for the wanted person, officers approached the shed, knocked, announced their presence, and asked for the person inside to exit. RP 25-26, 92-93, 115-16, 178. Mr. Garcia then exited the shed, though whether he did so immediately or after a delay that was more than typical was the subject of conflicting testimony. RP 26, 57, 92, 139, 178, 183-84. When Mr. Garcia exited the shed he was calm and followed the directions of officers. RP 93, 138, 186. Next, officers entered the shed and in plain view observed a pound of packaged methamphetamine, drug paraphernalia, currency bundled in 20, 50, and 100 dollar denominations, a scale with drug residue, and plastic bags. RP 27-28, 94. After the discovery of the drug evidence the officers immediately exited the shed, had Mr. Garcia and Ms. Kraabell arrested, and applied for a search warrant to search the shed. RP 28, 55, 65-66, 132, 141-42, 180-81.

The shed was secured while officers obtained the search warrant, and during that time an officer noticed a surveillance camera attached to the outside of the shed. RP 202, 212-16. When the search warrant was executed officers seized the items they discovered after the initial entry into the shed and also noticed a small video monitor on a work bench, which was turned on, and displayed the approach to the shed. RP 59, 62-63, 68, 70, 79, 95-114, 202-07. In addition, the officers seized needles, baggies similar in size to those found at street-level drug transactions, and a blue measuring container coated in drug residue. RP 59, 62-63, 103-04, 114, 193, 204-05. The money that was seized was counted and totaled between \$6,300 and \$6,800 and the methamphetamine that was seized was tested and confirmed as methamphetamine as well as determined to weigh 44 grams (just short of a pound). RP 95, 146-58. Aside from the drug evidence, the shed also contained yard tools, duct tape, and an air compressor. RP 75, 77-78, 80, 101.

At trial, the court read two stipulations to the jury. RP 235, 296-297. The first was an agreed stipulation that informed the jury that shed where the evidence was found was less than 1,000 feet from a school bus top for the Longview School District, located at 835 Eighth Avenue, that the bus that stops at that location seats more than ten people, including the driver, is regularly used to transport students to and from school, and is owned and operated by the Longview School District. RP 235. The second stipulation was proposed by Mr. Garcia and informed the jury of the following: "Daphne Kraabell was charged with conspiracy to commit a drug crime, delivery of methamphetamine, alleged to have occurred on February 27, 2013. She pled guilty to that charge on May 20, 2013, by admitting that she had the intent to deliver methamphetamine and she agreed with another person to engage in that conduct, and she took a substantial step in pursuance of that agreement." RP 275-95, 296-97.

C. ARGUMENT

THE STATE'S EVIDENCE WAS SUFFICIENT TO PROVE THAT MR. GARCIA POSSESSED METHAMPHETAMINE WITH THE INTENT TO DELIVER.

Evidence is sufficient to support a conviction if, when viewed in a light most favorable to the prosecution, it permits any rational trier of fact to find the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Salinas*, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992). "A claim of insufficiency admits the truth of the State's evidence and all inferences that reasonably can be drawn therefrom." *Salinas*, 119 Wn.2d at 201. Circumstantial and direct evidence are equally reliable. *State v. Delmarter*, 94 Wn.2d 634, 638, 618 P.2d 99 (1980). Moreover, "the specific criminal intent of the accused may be inferred from the conduct where it is plainly indicated as a matter of logical probability." *Id.* The reviewing court defers to the trier of fact on issues of conflicting testimony, credibility of witnesses, and the persuasiveness of the evidence. *State v. Camarillo*, 115 Wn.2d 60, 71, 794 P.2d 850 (1990); *State v.*

Walton, 64 Wn. App. 410, 415-16, 824 P.2d 533 (1992). In order to determine whether the necessary quantum of proof exists, the reviewing court "need not be convinced of the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt but only that substantial evidence supports the State's case." *State v. Gallagher*, 112 Wn.App. 601, 613, 51 P.3d 100 (2002) (citations omitted).

Possession of a controlled substance may be actual or constructive. State v. Callahan, 77 Wn.2d 27, 29, 459 P.2d 400 (1969). Constructive possession means the person charged with possession has or had dominion and control over the substance. *Id.* The intent to deliver a controlled substance cannot be established from possession alone; rather, possession must be accompanied by an additional factor suggesting the intent to deliver. *State v. Brown*, 68 Wn.App. 480, 483-85, 843 P.2d 1098 (1993); *State v. Harris*, 14 Wn.App. 414, 418, 542 P.2d 122 (1975).

Here, the reasonable inference that can be drawn from the State's evidence, especially when viewed in the light most favorable to the State, is that Mr. Garcia and Ms. Kraabell were involved in a major drug transaction in the shed when the officers arrived at the scene. Given the stipulation that was entered regarding Ms. Kraabell, the large amount of cash, the large amount of methamphetamine, the various implements used to break down, weigh, and package the methamphetamine for smaller drug deals, the surveillance equipment, and the fact that Mr. Garcia was found in the shed with the aforementioned items; any inference other than that Mr. Garcia was with whom Ms. Kraabell conspired to deliver methamphetamine is far-fetched. If Mr. Garcia wanted to go in the shed to retrieve tools for yard work, or was otherwise innocently present at the scene, one would imagine that Ms. Kraabell would not allow him to enter the shed or leave him alone in there with a quantity of methamphetamine worth approximately \$10,000 and almost \$7,000 in cash. Consequently, Mr. Garcia's presence in the shed is sufficient to prove his possession of the methamphetamine and the rest of the evidence produced at trial plainly indicates, as a matter of logical probability, his intent to deliver the controlled substance.

D. CONCLUSION

For the reasons argued above, Mr. Garcia's conviction should be

affirmed.